**RECEIVED**

**Nov 29 2022**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-000463

---

Daufuskie Island Utility Company, Inc.,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff,  
Haig Point Club and Community Association, Inc.,  
Melrose Property Owner's Association, Inc.,  
Bloody Point Property Owner's Association, and  
Beach Field Properties, LLC,

Respondents.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Thomas P. Gressette, Jr. (S.C. Bar #14065)

Email: [Gressette@WGLFIRM.com](mailto:Gressette@WGLFIRM.com)

Direct: 843-727-2249

G. Trenholm Walker. (S.C. Bar #5777)

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL**

- I. Whether this Court should reverse or modify South Carolina Public Service Commission Order 2022-79 because the Order's findings and conclusions denying DIUC permission to implement a reparations surcharge rates were legally erroneous, arbitrary, unsupported by substantial evidence, and prejudiced substantial rights of DIUC.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 9, 2015, DIUC, the sole provider of water and sewer service to a service area on Daufuskie Island, Beaufort County, South Carolina, applied to the Public Service Commission of South Carolina for approval of a new schedule of rates and charges for water and sewer service (“the Application”). **(R. p. 1256)** The Application was filed pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 58-5-240 and 10 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 103-712.4.A and 103-512.4.A. In its Application, DIUC utilized a historic 2014 test year, with known and measurable adjustments for 2015 expectations.

On December 8, 2015, the Commission entered its first rate order captioned Order Approving Settlement Among Certain Parties and Ruling on Application for Adjustments in Rates. **(R. p. 0001)** DIUC appealed and this Court reversed the Commission and remanded the matter for a de novo hearing. DIUC v. S.C. Office of Reg. Staff, 420 S.C. 305, 803 S.E.2d 280 (2017) (“DIUC I”).

Two years later, on December 6 and 7, 2017, the Commission held a second hearing on the Application and entered its Order on Rehearing. (Order 2018-68) **(R. p. 0075)** DIUC appealed the Order on Rehearing. This Court again reversed the Commission, remanding the matter for a third hearing before the Commission. DIUC v. S.C. Office of

Reg. Staff, 427 S.C. 458, 832 S.E.2d 572 (2019), reh'g denied (Sept. 27, 2019) (“DIUC II”).

After nearly another two years following the second reversal, the parties addressed multiple discovery issues and disagreements about how the matter should proceed given the previous rulings of this Court in DIUC I and DIUC II. Ultimately, the third hearing (technically a second rehearing) was scheduled by the Commission for March 2, 2021.

Prior to the scheduled second rehearing on remand, the parties reached agreement as to

settlement terms which they jointly proposed to the Commission by filing a copy of the parties' Settlement Agreement on February 18, 2021, and a Proposed Consent Order Approving Settlement on February 19, 2021. **(R. p. 1395; R. p. 0158)** DIUC and ORS also both submitted prefiled testimony in support of the proposed settlement and consent order. **(R. p. 0922; R. p. 0928)**

On February 25, 2021, the Commission convened a settlement hearing wherein the Commission considered the Settlement Agreement and the testimony of settlement witnesses for DIUC and for ORS. (Transcript, February 25, 2021) **(R. p. 0949)** The Commission entered a directive approving the Settlement Agreement on February 25, 2021, followed by a full order, Order 2021-132, entered March 30, 2021. **(R. p. 0167)** Order 2021-132 was captioned "Order Approving Settlement Agreement and Further Procedure." In Order 2021-132, the Commission approved the Settlement Agreement finding it is "just, fair, and reasonable, is in accord with applicable law and regulatory policy, and is in the public interest." (Order 2021-132 at p. 7) **(R. p. 0173)** Pursuant to the Order Approving Settlement Agreement and Further Procedure, DIUC was permitted to implement rates referred to as the 2021 Rates (as defined in the Settlement Agreement and reflected in the attachments thereto) for services beginning March 1, 2021. (Order 2021-132) **(R. p. 0167)** A 108.9% increase was requested in DIUC's 2015 Application; therefore DIUC was limited to that increase amount.

At the time of the Settlement Agreement, DIUC's request for a reparations rate surcharge was pending within the case. (See generally DIUC Supplemental Brief Re Second Remand) The parties could not agree regarding that remaining rate component. So, the Settlement Agreement, and ultimately the Approval Order, included the following provisions to explain that even after entry of a settlement order, the rate applications proceeding docket would remain open while the

parties addressed the remaining rate issue of DIUC's request to implement a reparations surcharge rate. Order 2021-132 (**R. p. 0170**) stated:

DIUC asserts the temporary rates permitted by Order 2015-846's rate increase of 43%, which was mitigated but not corrected by Order 2018-68's further changes permitting a rate increase of 88.5%, were confiscatory. DIUC seeks reparations to recoup through a surcharge its shortfall in revenues and return with interest accumulating until the surcharge becomes effective, back to its January 2018 billing for service provided for the last quarter of 2017, until its first billing following a final decision on the recoupment issue. DIUC also seeks reparations to recoup through a surcharge the credit/refund made in its January 2018 billing for the difference between the 88.5% increase and the 108.9% increase that had been in effect during the first appeal with interest accumulating until the surcharge becomes effective. ORS and the Intervenors disagree.

[\* \* \*]

The Settlement Agreement contains a procedure whereby after this Commission's decision regarding the proposed Settlement Agreement, the Parties can brief the matter [of DIUC's request for reparations] to the Commission for its further determination in this case. The Settlement Agreement provides for notice and a briefing schedule on this issue.

The Parties agree that this proceeding, Docket No. 2014-346-WS, will remain open until the issue of reparations is fully adjudicated, including any appeals and final order(s) on remand, if necessary. The Parties reserve their right to appeal the Commission's decision regarding this issue

(Settlement Approval Order at 4-5) (**R. pp. 0178-0179**)

Pursuant to the terms of the Settlement Approval Order and the Settlement Agreement, the parties briefed the issue of reparations surcharge rates. (**R. p. 0502; R. p. 0538; R. p. 0552; R. p. 0731; R. p. 0596**) On August 27, 2021, the Commission issued a Notice of Oral Arguments setting oral arguments regarding the reparations surcharge rate issue for Tuesday, November 30, 2021. (**R. p. 1205**)

Via Order 2021-581 entered August 25, 2021, the Commission granted the parties' request to submit proposed orders on the reparations rate issue. (Order 2021-581) (**R. p. 0189**) On September 22, 2021, the parties each submitted proposed orders. (**R. p. 0618; R. p. 0666; R. p. 0731; R. p. 0167**).

On November 30, 2021, the Commission heard oral argument from the parties. **(R. p. 0789)** On January 27, 2022, the Commission entered Order 2022-79, captioned as “Order Denying Request of DIUC to Impose Reparation Surcharges on Customers.” **(R. p. 0191)** The Order denied the reparations rate surcharges sought by DIUC.

DIUC timely filed a Petition for Rehearing and/or Reconsideration of Order 2022-79. **(R. p. 0191)** ORS filed a response to the Petition. **(R. p. 0779)** The POAs did not respond in opposition to DIUC’s Petition for Rehearing and/or Reconsideration. DIUC filed a Reply to the ORS Response regarding Rehearing. **(R. p. 0786)** On April 11, 2022, the Commission entered Order 2022-242 Denying Rehearing and/or Reconsideration of Order 2022-79. **(R. p. 0225)**

On April 14, 2022, DIUC initiated this Appeal by filing its Notice of Appeal. **(R. p. 1206)** The Office of the Clerk of this Court assigned the appeal Appellate Case No. 2022-000463.

**NOTE**

For ease of reference in briefing this Appeal, the terms “reparation,” “reparations,” “reparations surcharge rate,” and “surcharge rate” shall all mean and refer to DIUC’s request for the following one-time surcharges (as opposed to an ongoing tariff rate):

1. To implement a surcharge to collect the 108.9% increase it should have been allowed beginning on October 1, 2017, through March 1, 2021. A surcharge would be added to customer bills to recover the shortfall in revenues and return on investment for that period of time, with interest at the allowed 9.31% equity return.
2. To implement a surcharge to collect reimbursement of the credit/refund made to the customers with the January 1, 2018, billing when the 108.9% increase was not allowed to begin on October 1, 2017. A surcharge would be added to customer bills to recover the credits/refunds, with interest at the allowed 9.31% equity return.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### **The Rate Application and Initial Hearing.**

On June 9, 2015, Daufuskie Island Utility Company, Inc., the sole provider of water and sewer service to a service area that encompasses Daufuskie Island, Beaufort County, South Carolina (“DIUC”), applied to the Public Service Commission (the “Commission” or “PSC”), for approval of a new schedule of rates and charges for water and sewer service (“the Application”). (CITE). The Application was filed pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 58-5-240 and 10 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 103-712.4.A and 103-512.4.A. The Application sought increased rates based upon a 2014 test year, with known and measurable adjustments for 2015 expectations. **(R. p. 1256)**

On July 23, 2015, the Haig Point Club and Community Association, Inc., Melrose Property Owner’s Association, Inc., and Bloody Point Property Owner’s Association, (collectively “Intervenors”) filed a Petition to Intervene. The petition was granted. The South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff (“ORS”) also appeared via counsel.

On October 28, 2015, the Commission conducted a hearing on DIUC’s Application. On December 8, 2015, the Commissions entered an Order on the Application, but did not grant the relief requested by DIUC. Instead, the Commission entered Order 2015-846 adopting a “Settlement Agreement” between ORS and the POAs to which DIUC was not a party and which granted only 43% of DIUC’s requested revenue increase. **(R. p. 0001)** In Order 2015-846 the Commission adopted every adjustment proposed by ORS in testimony and the “Settlement Agreement,” effectively rejecting all of DIUC’s testimony, evidence, and analysis. DIUC filed a timely Petition for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing on December 21, 2015, and explained to the Commission that the 43% increase would not provide DIUC sufficient income to pay debt

service on its existing (and PSC approved loans) or generate funds to pay necessary operating expenses. (Appellant’s Brief, 2016-00652, 10-20-16 and DIUC Pet. for Recon., 12-21-2015) (**R. p. 1326; R. p. 0037**) By Order No. 2016-50 dated February 25, 2016, the Commission denied the Petition for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing. (**R. p. 0037**)

**DIUC’s First Appeal and DIUC I.**

On March 22, 2016, DIUC served its Notice of Appeal of Order 2015-846 and Order 2016-50 and the Commission’s complete adoption of all the positions and adjustments proposed by ORS and the POAs in opposition to DIUC. The Office of the Clerk of the Supreme Court assigned the matter Appellate Case No. 2016-000652. In its appeal DIUC asserted that by adopting the adjustments in the Settlement Agreement, Order 2015-846 violated Commission Settlement Policies and Procedures because DIUC was not involved in the Settlement Agreement. DIUC also appealed the Commission’s findings on five adjustments: Property Taxes, Management Fees, Rate Case Expenses, Bad Debt, and Rate Base arguing the findings were not based upon the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence in the record.

Pending this appeal of the 43% rate increase approved by Order No. 2015-846, DIUC placed its proposed full 108.9% rate increase into effect beginning the second quarter of 2016 pursuant to S.C. Code § 58-5-240(D). Pursuant to Section 58-5-240(D), the rates collected were subject to refund if the final rates turned out to be less than the 108.9% increase charged under bond.<sup>1</sup>

The Supreme Court heard oral argument on the appeal on December 14, 2016, and on July 26, 2017, issued its Opinion. The Court ruled for DIUC, reversed Commission Order 2015-846,

---

<sup>1</sup> Any refunds due would also include annual interest of 12% on the difference billed to each customer.

and remanded to the Commission finding:

[T]he Settlement Agreement did not resolve *any* issues between the parties, but rather was merely an agreement between the POAs and ORS not to object to one another's pre-filed testimony, and to accept ORS's recommendations and adjustments should the Commission adopt them. Furthermore, the Settlement Agreement contained multiple adjustments which were entirely unsupported by the evidence presented to the Commission. Therefore, we hold the Commission erred in approving and adopting the Settlement Agreement and DIUC is entitled to a new hearing in which the parties may present any additional evidence.

DIUC I, 420 S.C. at 315, 803 S.E.2d at 286.

The Court also explained, "While we are reversing and remanding for a new hearing as to all issues, in order to provide guidance to the Commission on remand, we address three allegations of error raised by DIUC in this appeal." Id. As to the three adjustments addressed, the Court concluded that:

1. The substantial evidence in the record supported inclusion of the Elevated Storage Tank and facilities in Rate Base/Utility Plant In Service;
2. DIUC is entitled to rates sufficient to cover the tax obligations DIUC presented in its Application; and
3. The Commission's decision to allow a bad debt expense of only \$30,852 was unsupported by the evidence in the record.

Although the Opinion did not individually analyze DIUC's other appellate issues regarding the Commission's decision disallowing \$699,631 of additional utility plant costs from DIUC's rate base, reduction of the amount of management fees, and rejection of certain rate case expenses incurred by DIUC, the Court did state that in addition the three adjustments discussed specifically, Order 2015-846 "contained multiple adjustments which were entirely unsupported by the evidence presented to the Commission." DIUC I, 420 S.C. at 315, 803 S.E.2d at 286. Based on these findings, the Court reversed and remanded the matter "for a new hearing as to all issues." Id. The issues referred to by the Court are Commission Order 2015-846's adjustments

to Property Taxes, Plant In Service, Bad Debts, Management Fees, and Rate Case Expenses. Id.

**Rehearing On First Remand to the Commission Pursuant to DIUC I.**

After remand to the Commission, the parties engaged in additional discovery then submitted prefiled rehearing testimony of their witnesses. The rehearing was convened on December 6, 2017. On December 20, 2017, the Commission issued a one-page order allowing a \$950,166 revenue increase (more than doubling the previous 43% increase to an 88.5% increase). **(R. p. 0073)** The Commission indicated that a full order would be issued at a subsequent time. **(R. p. 0073)** On January 31, 2018, the Commission entered its decision, docketed as Order No. 2018-68 (“Order on Rehearing”). (Order 2018-68) **(R. p. 0075)** DIUC filed a timely Petition for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing on February 20, 2018, asserting the Commission erred by not allowing proper recovery in rates for DIUC’s proposed Rate Case Expenses, Rate Base/Utility Plant In Service, and Accumulated Depreciation/Depreciation Expense. (Pet. Recon.) **(R. p. 0283)** By Order No. 2018-346 dated May 16, 2018, the Commission denied DIUC’s Petition for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing. (Order 2018-346) **(R. p. 0128)**

The Order on Rehearing granted an 88.5% rate increase effective for the fourth quarter of 2017 (for service rendered from October 1 through December 31, 2017) to be billed with DIUC’s January 1, 2018, billing. Because the allowed rate increase was less than the 108.9% revenue increase DIUC put into effect under bond after the first Order (pursuant to S.C. Code § 58-5-240(D) and subject to refund), DIUC had two options: (a) seek additional bonds to allow future collection of the full 108.9% increase, or (b) start collecting the lower 88.5% increase and refund/credit each customer for the difference between 108.9% that had been paid from July 1, 2016, to September 30, 2017, plus annual interest at 12%.

Unfortunately for DIUC, due to the costs of the appeal and rehearing combined with the

\$60,782 it had already spent for the previous bonds, DIUC was unable to obtain additional bonds that would allow it to collect the full 108.9% rates pending appeal of the 88.5% increase allowed by Order 2018-68 on rehearing. (Mtn. to Reconsider Directives with Affidavit of Guastella) (**R. p. 0268**) DIUC was left without any bonding option.<sup>2</sup> So, DIUC implemented rates at the 88.5% increase and with ORS's approval initiated refunds/credits to customers for the difference between 108.9% that had been paid in response to DIUC's July 1, 2016 billing for service provided from April 1, 2016, to September 30, 2017, plus annual interest at 12%. The refunded amount totaled \$232,542. (DIUC Reply In Support of Request for Reparations at 1) (**R. p. 0596**)

### **DIUC's Second Appeal and DIUC II.**

On June 13, 2018, DIUC served its Notice of Appeal of Order No. 2018-68 and Order No. 2018-346 (collectively referred to herein as "Order 2018-68" and "Order on Rehearing"). (Second Notice of Appeal) The Office of the Clerk of the Supreme Court assigned the second appeal Appellate Case No. 2018-001107. (**R. p. 1123**)

In its second appeal DIUC asserted the Commission erred in excluding \$542,978 from DIUC's Rate Case Expenses and the Commission erred in removing \$699,361 from DIUC's Rate Base/Utility Plant In Service. In DIUC I these same categories of adjustments (Rate Case Expenses and Rate Base) were among the "multiple" issues reversed and remanded by the Court

---

<sup>2</sup> In its Petition for Rehearing of Order 2022-79 Denying Reparations, DIUC specifically requested that "the Commission to find that DIUC had no *choice* [in late 2017] about obtaining additional bonds under S.C. Code § 58-5-240(D)." DIUC pleaded, "Because ORS has put DIUC through two years of litigation, ORS effectively exhausted all reserves and DIUC could not obtain further bonds." (Pet. Rehearing, 2-16-22 at 19) Notably, the Commission refused to make that finding and, instead, used the request for a finding against DIUC stating, "This Commission has never made a finding of fact in this proceeding that DIUC could not afford a bond." (Order 2022-79 at 23) (**R. p. 0213**) As discussed in Section I. E., *infra*, ORS and the Commission have both used DIUC's inability to afford bonds as a grounds to deny of the reparations rate relief by arguing the sole remedy available to DIUC had to be exercised in 2017 via S.C. Code § 58-5-240(D).

because there was no support for the Commission’s adjustments to them; however, the Court did not provide specific “guidance” for these items as it did for the others. See generally DIUC I, 420 S.C. 305, 803 S.E.2d 280 (2017). On remand and rehearing ORS and the Commission both continued to exclude \$699,361 from Rate Base/Plant In Service, as they had in the original proceeding and Order 2015-846 in 2017. The Rate Case Expenses at issue included some formerly approved costs and some new ones introduced on remand; ORS and the Commission changed their position on the previously approved costs by applying a higher standard to justify rejecting the total of \$542,978 in Rate Case Expenses attributable to the work of Guastella Associates.

After hearing oral argument on April 18, 2019, this Court entered its decision in favor of the Appellant, DIUC. See DIUC v. S.C. Office of Reg. Staff, 427 S.C. 458, 832 S.E.2d 572 (2019), reh'g denied (Sept. 27, 2019) (hereinafter “DIUC II”).

In its opinion in DIUC II, this Court addressed DIUC’s assertion that ORS and the Commission allowed certain Rate Case Expenses in the initial proceeding but after losing the first appeal of DIUC I, ORS and the Commission denied DIUC recovery for the very same expenses on remand. DIUC argued the higher standard applied by ORS and the Commission was improper. This Court agreed:

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