RECEIVED

Nov 29 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

59THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM
THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Docket No. 2014-346-WS
Appellate Case No. 2022-000463

Daufuskie Island Utility Company, Inc., Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff,
Haig Point Club and Community Association, Inc.,
Melrose Property Owner’s Association, Inc., and
Bloody Point Property Owner’s Association, Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
SOUTH CAROLINA OFFICE OF REGULATORY STAFF**

Andrew M. Bateman (S.C. Bar #101114)
Benjamin P. Mustian (S.C. Bar #68269)
Steven W. Hamm (S.C. Bar #2634)
South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff

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

⁴⁵ While the Court did provide guidance on certain issues in this Order, as shown below, even this does not render the rates ordered “unlawful.”

⁴⁶ Daufuskie Island Utility Company, Inc., 427 S.C. at 464, 832 S.E.2d at 575 (citation omitted).

to be “unlawful.”⁴⁷ The distinction between the two prior DIUC appeals and the Hamm case thus required the Commission to conclude that the rates resultant from Order Nos. 2015-846 and 2018-68 were not unlawful (and were therefore lawful). Ignoring this established law, DIUC mischaracterizes the Commission’s Order⁴⁸ and seeks to make inseparable two distinct components: Commission Orders and lawful rates. However, this Court recognized the distinction between an erroneous Order and unlawful rates in previous cases when it made clear (as in Hamm) that the rates at issue were unlawful. This Court made no such finding in DIUC I or DIUC II. As a result, the rates put into effect were lawful and cannot be collaterally attacked, and the Commission properly denied DIUC’s request to impose a Retroactive Surcharge.⁴⁹ Moreover, the rates DIUC is charging are final, just, and reasonable and cannot now be amended and doing otherwise would constitute a violation of both the filed rate doctrine and prohibition against retroactive ratemaking.⁵⁰

Also unavailing is DIUC’s assertion that, because the Court allowed additional evidence to be presented on remand, it should be entitled to charge its customers a Retroactive Surcharge.⁵¹ The law of South Carolina only allows a single exception to retroactive ratemaking – where there are “extraordinary” expenses that are “unanticipated and non-recurring.” Porter v. S.C. Pub. Serv.

⁴⁷ Hamm v. Cent. States Health & Life Co. of Omaha, 299 S.C. 500, 505, 386 S.E.2d 250, 253 (1989) (holding that because the rates were found “unlawful,” “a refund in [that] instance would not be considered retroactive ratemaking.”).

⁴⁸ DIUC’s Initial Appeal Brief consistently mis-characterizes the Commission Order No. 2022-79 as flawed because it concluded that this Court “did not reject Order No. 2015-845 [sic] in DIUC I or DIUC II.” DIUC Reparations Initial Appeal Brief, p. 31. Commission Order No. 2022-79 makes no such representation.

⁴⁹ On March 30, 2021, the Commission issued Order No. 2021-132, which set “rates for water and wastewater service that are just and reasonable and will allow [DIUC] the opportunity to earn a reasonable return on the basis of its 2014 rate application.” No Party appealed Commission Order No. 2021-132. Accordingly, just, reasonable, and final rates are in effect, which rates DIUC has been charging its customers since March 1, 2021. Therefore, the Commission cannot now retroactively change those rates. (See Porter v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm’n, 328 S.C. 222, 231, 493 S.E.2d 92, 97 (1997) (holding ratemaking is a prospective rather than a retroactive process.)

⁵⁰ See Argument I.A & I.C, supra (R. pp. 0167, 1398).

⁵¹ DIUC Reparations Initial Appeal Brief, p. 36.

Comm'n, 328 S.C. 222, 231, 493 S.E.2d 92, 97 (1997). DIUC failed argue that its requested Retroactive Surcharge is extraordinary and cannot raise that argument for the first time on appeal. Regardless, the single exception to the prohibition against retroactive ratemaking established by this Court does not apply to DIUC's requested Retroactive Surcharge.

Moreover, while the Court did permit DIUC to present additional evidence on remand, the rates in DIUC I and DIUC II were not found to be unlawful and cannot now be collaterally attacked. To the extent the Commission is required to evaluate the "current economic realities"⁵² at issue for DIUC, paragraph five (5) of the Settlement Agreement dispositively affirmed that the current rates DIUC is charging are just and reasonable and will "allow the Company the opportunity to earn a reasonable return on the basis of its 2014 rate application."⁵³ By DIUC's own admission, the current economic realities do not require the Retroactive Surcharge that DIUC requests.

Finally, DIUC's request to recover the difference between the rates originally sought and the subsequently approved rates plus interest for the period before the issuance of Order No. 2022-79 is an unlawful collateral attack on the rates set forth in Order No. 2018-68 and violates S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-240(D)). DIUC did not challenge the portion of Order No. 2018-68 requiring DIUC to provide the refunds and interest required pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-240(D) and that portion of Order No. 2018-68 became the law of the case and is not subject to collateral attack in this appeal. Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329-30, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) ("An unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case.").

⁵² DIUC I, 420 S.C. at 286 n.8, 803 S.E.2d at 316 (R. pp. 0167, 1398).

⁵³ (R. p. 1398).

II. DIUC is Prohibited from Collecting its Alleged Lost Revenues Because DIUC Did Not Put Its Requested Rates into Effect Under Bond Pending Resolution of the Second Appeal.

The Commission is statutorily obligated to set “just and reasonable” rates, which are in turn collected by utilities from their customers,⁵⁴ and the General Assembly has given regulated utilities statutory rights and remedies when those rights allegedly are offended. South Carolina Code Ann. § 58-5-240(D) states in part,

...[i]f the Commission rules and issues its order within the time aforesaid, and the utility shall appeal from the order, by filing with the Commission a petition for rehearing, the utility may put the rates requested in its schedule into effect under bond only during the appeal and until final disposition of the case....

Further, “[a] decision of the commission may be reviewed by the Supreme Court or court of appeals as provided by statute and the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules upon questions of both law and fact, as provided pursuant to this section....” S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-340.

South Carolina Code Ann. §§ 58-5-210, -240(D), and -340 collectively create a substantive right for DIUC (the right to charge just and reasonable rates and the right to appeal a Commission Order if the utility determines that rates ordered were not just and reasonable) and provide a remedy for the alleged infringement of that right (the right to obtain a bond and charge its customers rates not otherwise ordered by the Commission during the pendency of the appeal). DIUC initially availed itself of the statutory protections provided in S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-240(D) and received the commensurate benefit by charging its customers the full request of rates sought during the pendency of the first appeal,⁵⁵ but did not do so during the second appeal. Because DIUC did not put its requested rates into effect under bond pending resolution of the second appeal, it has forgone those revenues and now is prohibited from collecting these allegedly lost revenues

⁵⁴ See S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-210.

⁵⁵ (R. pp. 0059-0063).

from its customers. See Dockins v. Ingles Markets, Inc., 306 S.C. 496, 498, 413 S.E.2d 18, 19 (1992) (“When a statute creates a substantive right and provides a remedy for infringement of that right, the plaintiff is limited to that statutory remedy.” (citing Campbell v. Bi-Lo, 301 S.C. 448, 392 S.E.2d 477 (Ct.App.1990)) (emphasis added). DIUC is limited to the remedies available under the law, and the law does not permit a Retroactive Surcharge to take the place of the lawful and available remedy established by the General Assembly.

Notwithstanding the legal prohibitions against DIUC’s attempt to recover the Retroactive Surcharge from its customers, there is also sound policy to prohibit DIUC from retroactively recovering these monies. The General Assembly set forth a specific mechanism in S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-240(D), which would have allowed DIUC to recover the revenue it would have realized from its requested rates. This statutory mechanism is well-reasoned and creates specific checks and balances for both utilities and their customers. For instance, if the utility avails itself of the protections afforded by S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-240(D) and the appellate court reverses the Commission, then during the pendency of the appeal the utility will have collected from its customers the rates it originally sought (as was the case in the first DIUC appeal). However, if on appeal the Commission is affirmed, then the utility must return to its customers the unreasonably charged rates, with interest. It is through this mechanism that the General Assembly prudently balanced the interests of utilities and their customers. If the Court were to grant DIUC’s request to retroactively collect reparations in this case, DIUC would be able to circumvent this specific remedy and collect rates outside of the authorized statutory parameters. Such action would signal that utilities need not follow the bond statute, but still may be able recover additional money from

their customers if successful in challenging the Commission's decision on appeal.⁵⁶ Therefore, granting DIUC's unlawful request would upset the careful balance enacted by the General Assembly, remove the risk from utilities in utilizing S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-240(D), and instead place the risk directly on the utilities' customers.

DIUC argues that it had no choice in the matter regarding whether to obtain a bond. However, the issue before this Court is the legal question of whether DIUC can charge its customers the Retroactive Surcharge, which issue the parties agreed would be briefed and presented to the Commission.⁵⁷ DIUC did not appeal the portion of Commission Order No. 2022-79 that stated only a legal issue stood before the Commission. Because the parties agreed that the sole issue was the legal question of whether DIUC could recover its Retroactive Surcharge DIUC did not present to the Commission for consideration the factual question of whether it had the financial resources to obtain a bond. Therefore, that factual question is not properly before this Court. Moreover, the record contains no finding that DIUC lacked financial resources to obtain a bond.⁵⁸ Any claims that DIUC could not afford a bond are nothing more than bald assertions that were not contested before the Commission, have not been found to be true, and are not now properly before this Court.

Assuming *arguendo* DIUC's assertions that it lacked financial resources to obtain a bond were true, S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-240 is unequivocal. The statute contains no exception based on whether a utility has the financial resources to obtain a bond or for a utility that does not avail itself

⁵⁶ It should also be noted that the surcharge DIUC seeks to impose may exceed \$44,000 for certain commercial customers and \$3,500 for residential customers. (R. p. 1414).

⁵⁷ The sole issue for Commission consideration was whether DIUC may charge its customers reparations in the form of surcharges resulting from what DIUC described as "confiscatory" rates. (R. pp. 0192, 1400-1401).

⁵⁸ Simply because DIUC has made this assertion previously does not make it a finding of the Commission.

of the specific protections established by the General Assembly. Because DIUC did not avail itself of the statutory remedy, the law is clear that DIUC is now prohibited from recovering its Retroactive Surcharge.

To the extent DIUC seeks equitable relief in this matter in the form of restitution, unjust enrichment, or similar concepts, such “relief is generally available only where there is no adequate remedy at law. An adequate legal remedy may be provided by statute.” Santee Cooper Resort, Inc. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm’n, 298 S.C. 179, 185, 379 S.E.2d 119, 123 (1989). This rule applies in the context of ratemaking. See id. In Santee Cooper, the Commission set a rate schedule of \$8.00 per month. Id. at 181, 379 S.E.2d at 120. The Consumer Advocate appealed to the circuit court and requested the court place the \$8.00 rate into effect under bond. Id. at 181, 379 S.E.2d at 120-21. The circuit court granted the motion and required the utility to file a bond undertaking to secure a refund with 14% interest if any was ordered at the conclusion of the case. Id. at 181, 379 S.E.2d at 121. This Court reversed, concluding the applicable bond statute did not authorize the requirement of a bond at the request of a party other than the utility and that the Administrative Procedure Act did not authorize the bond either. Id. at 182-84, 379 S.E.2d at 121-22. The Consumer Advocate also argued the circuit court had inherent equitable power to place rates into effect under bond. Id. at 185, 379 S.E.2d at 122-23. This Court held the circuit court lacked equitable authority because an adequate statutory remedy existed, reasoning “the court’s equitable powers must yield in the face of an unambiguously worded statute.” Id. at 185, 379 S.E.2d at 123. The same reasoning applies here. DIUC had an unambiguous statutory remedy in S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-240(D); therefore, the Commission did not have authority to grant the relief DIUC seeks.

It should also be noted that the Commission and this Court have recognized an administrative remedy that has been employed to protect a utility’s potential revenue and that

required minimal outlay of financial resources on the part of the utility. In Commission Docket No. 2019-290-WS, Blue Granite Water Company (“Blue Granite”) conditionally petitioned the Commission for an accounting order to defer recovery of the difference between the rates approved by the Commission and the rates that Blue Granite would have otherwise put into effect under bond, in addition to the costs of providing certain notices and carrying charges on the deferred costs. According to Blue Granite and as cited by this Court,

There are two possible remedies to avoid an unconstitutional taking. The preferred remedy, which would result in the least customer confusion and future rate impact, is to lift the stay and permit the Company to implement the rates under bond for which the Company’s customers are on notice. An alternative remedy is to grant the instant deferral request.

In re Blue Granite Water Company, 434 S.C. 180, 203, 862 S.E.2d 887, 899 (2021). The Commission granted Blue Granite’s request, and this Court determined that Blue Granite’s complaint regarding the Commission’s treatment of its requested bond was moot because Blue Granite received the remedy it sought. Id. at 204, 899. That case is distinguishable from the one presently before the Court because the issues in that appeal did not relate to whether such an alternative administrative remedy was appropriate or lawful; however, it highlights the contrast that in the underlying proceeding, DIUC did not even attempt to avail itself of an administrative remedy – one which did not require a third party to approve and issue a bond or similar form of protection.

It is undisputed that DIUC failed to avail itself of the statutory remedy and did not even attempt to obtain an administrative remedy. Accordingly, DIUC is now prohibited from recovering its requested Retroactive Surcharge.

III. DIUC is Now Charging Just, Reasonable, and Final Rates.

DIUC asks this Court to rule that, because the underlying proceeding remained open following the establishment of final, just, and reasonable rates in order to consider the requested

Retroactive Surcharge, DIUC is entitled to further increase customers' rates. Although the Commission appropriately held the proceeding open for DIUC to brief this issue and seek the Retroactive Surcharge, as contemplated in the Settlement Agreement,⁵⁹ the law does not allow the Commission to make provisional rates. Rather, the law dictates that, once final rates are set, the Commission cannot revise those rates further.⁶⁰ Upon issuing Order No. 2021-132, which resulted in just and reasonable rates, the Commission kept the proceeding open for the sole purpose of allowing the parties to brief and argue the Retroactive Surcharge issue but in doing so, the Commission could legally take no action to enable DIUC to further increase its customers' rates through a Retroactive Surcharge.

Additionally, all Parties agreed that Commission Order No. 2021-132 set rates that were just and reasonable – and DIUC subsequently put those rates into effect.⁶¹ Once the period to appeal Order No. 2021-132 lapsed, the rates put into effect in that Order became final. Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union, 403 S.C. 560, 734 S.E.2d 778 (2013) (an unappealed ruling is the law of the case). See also S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-290 (making clear that current rates can only be adjusted prospectively and not retroactively).⁶²

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